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1. Name

historic (former) Spruce Street YMCA

and/or common Spruce Street YMCA

2. Location

street & number 375 North Spruce Street

— not for publication

city, town Winston-Salem — vicinity of
statte North Carolina code (37 county  Forsyth code (g7
3. Classification
Category Ownership Status Present Use
____district “* public - occupied —_agriculture ____museum
_X_building(s) ___ private < unoccupied ___ commercial ___ park
— structure — both _ work in progress ___ educational ____ private residence
___ site Public Acquisition Accessible — entertainment __ religious
___ object ____in process X_ yes: restricted ____government ___ scientific
___ being considered _ yes: unrestricted ____ industrial — transportation
N/A —_no — military . X__ other: vacant

4. Owner of Property S

name 'C‘it.yv of Winston-Salem

street & number Pos'{:.Office Box 2511

city, town Winston-Salem ____ vicinity of

state North Carolina 27102

5. Location of Lega»l Description

courthouse, registry of deeds, etc.

s
Forsyth County Hall of Justice, Register of Deeds

street & number Main Street

city, town Winston-Salem

state North Carolina

6. Representation in Existing Surveys

From Frontier to Factory, An Architectural
History of Forsyth County

title

has this property been determined eligible?

__yes X _no

____federal

date 1981

_ state

X

county ____ local

depository for survey records  N.C. Division of Archives and History

Raleigh

city, town

North Carolina

state




7. Description

Condition Check one Check one

— excellent —X_ deteriorated ____ unaltered X original site
— good — tuins _X _ altered — moved date
__ fair —_ unexposed

Describe the present and originél {if known) physical appearance

Architecture -- YMCA

The former Young Men's Christian Association Building
stands on the east side of Spruce Street near its intersection with
Fourth Street in downtown Winston-Salem. The four-story brick
and limestone structure with Classic Revival detailing served the
men and boys of the community as the "Y" from 1927 until 1976.1
The Spruce Street YMCA was designed by Harold Macklin, a Winston-
Salem architect who also used the assistance of the national YMCA's
Building Bureau in New York.2 The building was constructed by the
Northeastern Construction Company of New York.3 Macklin's design
for the "Y" remained relatively unaltered throughout the forty-nine
years of the building's use.

The exterior of the YMCA is brick and features Classic
Revival limestone detailing. The center of the building is divided
by limestone pilasters in the Corinthian order into three bays
centered over the two main entrances. In addition, the limestone
Classic Revival detail on the exterior of the YMCA includes angle
quoins, a belt course between the first and second floors, and the
Boys and Men's entrances. The entrances, which face Spruce Street,
have arched openings with carved keystones flanked by fluted
Corinthian pilasters which support a full entablature. On the
frieze of the entablature in V-cut- letters are the words "Men"
and "Boys," and the cornice features bead and reel molding and
dentil work. The limestone cornice above the arched entrance
supports iron balconies with polished brass finials and rosettes
and a central panel which bears the initials "YMCA" in intertwined
ironwork. The bay between the Men's and Boys' entrances on the
Spruce Street level is filled with a limestone area scored to
resemble cut stone and defined by a three-part Palladian window.
The building also features a limestone frieze which wraps around
the building and supports a limestone cornice with dentil molding.

Fenestration in the Spruce Street " consists of round-
headed windows on the first floor and eight-over-eight sash windows
on the upper floors. The round-headed windows feature carved lime-
stone keystones at the head and a balustrade across the sill. 1In
the central bays of the building over the entrances, the sash
windows on the second floor level feature limestone surrounds and
hoods, and the third floor windows feature keystone lintels of
limestone. On the rest of the Spruce Street facade and on the
corners of the north and south elevations, the windows of the
upper floors have brick arches with limestone keystones. Under
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the arched Mens and Boys entrances, flights of granite steps lead
to Palladian-style doors with arched transoms and sidelights. On
the interior of the first floor is a Reading Room between the two
entrances, and the Men's entrance leads directly into a lobby which
features a Check Room and a semi-circular Attendant's desk. (This
lobby area burned in January, 1984.) The lobby is lighted and ven-
tilated by a skylight. To the right of the Men's entrance is the
Men's Social Room with an oak-paneled dado and a fireplace' featuring
a tile surround and a tile hearth, and this room has direct access
to the stairwell leading to the dormitories on the upper floors.
Offices for the General Secretary, the Industrial Secretary, the
Boys' Secretary and the Physical Director are placed in the center
of the building. The Boys' entrance leads directly into a separate
lobby where there is an attendant's counter, although it is smaller
than the lobby which serves the Men's entrance. To the left of the
Boys' entrance is a large oak-paneled room like the Men's Social
Room which Macklin called the Young Boys Social Room. It also
features a tile fireplace.

At the back of the building, behind both the Boys and Mens
Social rooms and the offices ofthe "Y," are the main gymnasium and the
auxiliary gym. The main gym featured an overhead track and basketball
courts, and the auxiliary gym is an open area which was used for special
classes. Underneath the main gymnasium, on the basement level, is
the natatorium or swimming pool. It is twenty feet wide by sixty feet
long and is lined with white tile. A spectator's section overlooks
the pool and is separated from the deck of the pool by brass rails.
The deck of the pool also features decorative tile. The heating,
ventilating and swimming pool equipment was installed by the en-
gineering firm of Wiley and Wilson from Lynchburg, Virginia, and the
tile was provided by Wesley Soan of Philadelphia.

The pool area is bordered on two sides of the basement level
by showers, locker rooms, storage rooms, andtdrying rooms. There
are separate showers and locker rooms for boys, "seniors," and

"businessmen."S The locker rooms lead into a basement lobby. Along
the Spruce Street side of the building on the basement level is a
‘banquet hall which is 82x22 feet and can seat 150 people. Adjoining
the hall is a "perfectly and modernly equipped kitchen."6 The banquet
hall features a fireplace with a tile surround, and "folding parti-
tions" are "furnished so that five rooms can be made out of this

hall."7
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The second, third and fourth floors are devoted to one-
hundred sixteen dormitory rooms. The rooms contain two, closets
but feature no decorative woodwork. The floor plan of:- the upper
floors contains a central corridor with rooms along the outside
walls and one shower room, washroom and toilet for each floor on
the inside wall. The hall is accented by a chairrail, and the
door to each room is surmounted by a transom. Each floor also
features a linen closet, a storage closet and trunk room.

Parts of the third and fourth floors are occupied inthe center
by two squash and racquetball courts and the handball courts.
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Architectural Footnotes 'S

lyarola Macklin, "Building for Young Men's Christian
Association, Winston-$Salem, N.C.," architectural drawings in
possession of Calloway, Johnson and Moore, architects, Winston-
Salem, N.C., hereinafter cited as Macklin, drawings; author's
interview with Whitfield B. East, Community Relations Director,
Winston-Salemr YMCA, February 9, 1984, hereinafter cited as -East

interview.

2Winston-—Salem Journal, "Plans Completed for Building,
A credit to the Community,"” September 10, 1924, hereinafter cited
as Journal, "Plans Completed."

3Macklin, drawings; "General Contract, Winston-Salem
YMCA, Northeastern Construction Company," contract in possession
of Whitfield B. East, Winston-Salem Central YMCA.

4“Specifications, Heating, Ventilating and Swimming
Pool Equipment to be installed in new YMCA Building Winston-
Salem, N.C.," Wiley and Wilson, consulting engineers, contract
in possession of Whitfield B. East, Winston-Salem Central YMCA.

5Macklin, drawings.

6Journal, "Plans Completed."

7Journal, "Plans Completed.’




8. Si‘gnificancé’

Period Areas of Significance—Check and justify below

___prehistoric ____ archeology-prehistoric ___ community planning ____ laridscape architeciuré,x.; religion

— 1400-1499 ____ archeology-historic — conservation — law — science

— 1500-1599 ____ agriculture . — economics — literature — sculpture

___1600-1699 _X_ architeciure —__ education . ___ military - X_ sociall

e 1700-1799 ____ art —_engineering © 0 music : humanitarian

—1800-1899 ___ commerce — exploration/settlement ____ philosophy _ theater

_X_1900— o communications —— industry —— politics/government ___ transportation
e T e — invention ' — other (specify)

Specific dates 1977 Builder/Architect Harold Macklin

Statement of Significance (in one paragraph) t RN L N2

Significance Statement

Spruce Street YMCA

The former Spruce Street building of the Young Men's
Christian Association in Winston-Salem is a four-story Classic
Revival structure designed by Winston-Salem architect Harold
Macklin.l It stands in the midst of the city's downtown business
district, and it served the men and boys of the community as the
"Y" from 1927 until 1976 when the new West End building was
completed.2 In addition, for forty-nine years the Spruce
Street YMCA served newcomers to Winston-Salem with its one hundred
and sixteen dormitory rooms. The Spruce Street building remains
from an era of "Y" work in which a downtown location was emphasized
to attract young men who were entering the business and profes-
sional world and who needed a place to stay until they obtained a
financial foothold. The Spruce Street YMCA was built during the
1920s building boom in Winston-Salem when the tremendous wealth
generated by tobacco, textiles and other industries enabled
businessmen and others to finance and build substantial civic
and commercial buildings. From its founding in October, 1888, the
Winston-Salem YMCA has garnered the financial and volunteer support
of the business and civic leaders of the community, and the Spruce
Street building stands as a reminder of the longevity and importance
of the "Y" program and as evidence of the lopg-standing tradition
of philanthropy in-Winston-Salem.3
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Criteria Assessment

a

A. The Spruce Street YMCA is associated with the boom period
of the 1920s in Winston-Salem when the tremendous wealth genherated
by tobacco, textile and other industries enabled businessmen and
others to finance and build substantial civic and commercial struc- .

tures in the gity.

B. The Spruce Street YMCA is associated with prominent 1920s
business and civic leaders such as Thurmond Chatham, Rev. H. E.
Rondthaler, Herbert A. Pfohl, B. F. Huntley, M. D. Stockton, °
Charles M. Norfleet and Robert M. Hanes. ‘

c. The Spruce Street YMCA is the work of Winston-Salem
architect Harold Macklin whose other work in Winston-Salem includes
the YWCA, the Journal and Sentinel Building, and Montaldo's.
Macklin also served as the local associate architect for St. Paul's
Episcopal Church, designed by Boston architect, Ralph Adams Cram.

The Young Men's Christian Association began in London, and
in 1851 the idea was transplanted to the United States. While there
were many "reform" organizations in America at this time, none
supplied the combination of Christian leadership, program and organi-
zation that the London YMCA exhibited.4 C. Howard Hopkins, in his
book, The History of the Y.M.C.A. in North America, states that
" . . . the American genius for promotion, fared by the motives
of the evangelical revival, opened the continent to the new idea."5
The first successful YMCA in the United States was in Boston, and
Hopkins states that following news of the success in Boston "within
three years virtually every major city and many smaller ones had

YMCAs . "6

Winston-Salem's YMCA was organized on October 7, 1888,
in a meeting at Centenary Methodist Church, and the Salem People's
Press chronicled the event:
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At a meeting of the young men of the two towns
(Winston and Salem) on Sunday last, a "Young Men's
Christian Association" was organized . . . The
meeting was opened by singing "What A Friend We
Have In Jesus," and prayer by Rev. M. Davis.

R. R. Crawford was elected chairman and W. A. Blair,

secretary.’
/

R. R. Crawford was a businessman who operated a hardware store, and
Professor W. A. Blair was the principal of Winston's Graded School.
Both men served in a temporary capacity as "Y" officers until another
organizational meeting on October 4, 1888, at First Baptist Church.

. At this meeting W. A. Blair was elected president and Madison D. :
Stockton, secretary.9 Stockton was president of the Huntley-Hill-
Stockton Furniture Store.l0

One hundred and thirty young men signed up at the October
7, 1888, meeting to become members of the new Association, and the
first permanent meeting place became the Gray Block on Third Street.ll
After a few months, however, the YMCA membership expanded and the
organization rented new gquarters in the Buxton Building on Liberty
Street.l2 1In 1892 a fire destroyed this location, and the "Y" moved
to the second floor of the Jacob's Block on the southeast corner of
Third and Main Streets. By 1897 more space was again needed and the
organization moved into Brown's Opera House at the corner of Fourth

and Main.13

Brown's Opera House served the YMCA well until January
1906, when the Board of Directors authorized the planning of a new
and permanent building for the Association.l4 Nationally, the YMCA
movement had begun to recognize the limitations of rented quarters,
and structures designed specifically for "Y" work became more common.l5
I. E. Brown's Book-of YMCA Buildings (1895) promoted inclusion of
dormitory rooms in YMCA buildings as "very satisfactory" sources of
revenue, though stores and office were preferable.l® Brown's book
with its many illustrations and floor plans helped to spread the idea
of buildings specifically designed for "Y" use, and by the turn of the
century the "greatest building movement in American Association
history" had begun.17 On October 13, 1907, the cornerstone for
Winston-Salem's first YMCA building was laid in the southwest corner
of Fourth and Cherry Streets. The building included a gymnasium, a
library, a reading room, classrooms, offices, a bowling alley, a game
room, a swimming pool and thirty-six dormitory rooms.l The YMCA

Board of Directors was certain that the new structure would serve
the community for at least fifty years.
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In 1923, however, it became apparent that the new YMCA
would not serve the community for even twenty-five years, so when
the opportunity arose to sell the land and the building, -the
Directors took it. At a meeting of the Board on May 25, 1923,

a resolution authorizing the sale of the YMCA property located on
Fourth and Cherry Streets was unanimously adopted.l9 A new site
committee had been appointed and it made the following report:
"After looking over every conceivable location, both in person
and on maps, the committee has come to the unanimous decision to
recommend two lots on Spruce Street, known as the Philips property,
and the Shepherd property, and recommends that these two lots be
bought at approximately thirty-four thousand, 500 dollars."20
The Board accepted this recommendation and authorized the president.
- and secretary to sell the 1908 "Y" property to W. M. Nissen for
$225,000.21 Nissen built an 18-story skyscraper on the site.

In 1924 the Winston-Salem YMCA retained the services of
architect Harold Macklin to design the new building for the
Association. Macklin (1885-1948) was a native of Portland,
England and was educated in the cathedral schools of Salisbury,
England and the Architectural School of London. In 1919 he came
to Winston-Salem and worked with the general contracting firm of
Harry -F. Hann and Company. Soon thereafter he started his own
architectural practice. Macklin designed many buildings in
Winston-Salem, among them the YWCA, the Journal and Sentinel
Building and Mondaldo's. He also served as the associate
architect for St. Paul's Episcopal Church, designed by Boston
architect Ralph Adams Cram.22 In designing the YMCA, Macklin
used the assistance of the "Y's" Building Bureau in New York.

The YMCA Convention of 1913 had established the Building
Bureau, but its duties were largely in the fund raising category
until 1915 when an architectural resources department was added.
With the Bureau's help, YMCAs across the country began to feature
stately entrances and grand lobbies which "were calculated to class
the new Association facilities with the communities' major downtown
headquarters of business or government."24 The idea of renting
ground-floor space faded, and in its place rose stories of dormi-
tories -- "homes away from home and income-producing endowment."
Other features which became standard were the gymnasium, a swimming
pool, abundant class rooms, and increased space for boys' facilities.
This increased emphasis on boys wag reflected in special entrances

and equipment for the younger set.
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In his 1924 plans for the Spruce Street YMCA
Harold Macklin provided separate Men's and Boys' entrances
and separate "departments" on the interior. He also provided
more than three times the number of dormitory rooms the 1908
"Y" had featured. A 1924 newspaper article reported that
"While the rooms are not large, they are neat, compact and will
be furnished most attractively and in a homelike manner. On
each dormitory floor there will be wash room and toilet faci-
lities. The wash rooms are equipped with shower baths."27 The
Men's Department and Boys' Department in the new structure would
be entirely separate, "though communicative."28 The separate
entrances were to feature arched openings with full classical
entablatures of limestone. "Entering the men's door, the
visitor to the building will climb a short flight of steps, and
enter upon a handsomely fitted lobby, which, though considerably
smaller than th% lobby in the present building, will be ample
for the needs."?? The lobby was to be flanked by the Men's
Reading Room and a Men's Social Room, and would contain
access to both the basement and the dormitories. The Boys'
Department would feature large Social Rooms for both older
and younger boys. Plans for both the Men's and Boys' Social
Rooms contained fireplaces and oak paneling.

The main gymnasium in the Spruce Street structure
would feature a track which could also be used as a spectators'
balcony for events. 1In addition tothis gymnasium, handball,
squash and racquetball courts were planned. On the basement
level there would be the swimming pool or "natatorium"”" as it
was sometimes called. The pool's dimensions were 20 feet
wide by 60 feet long, and it was to be equipped with all the
latest sanitizing and ventilation egquipment. The basement
level also would contain a banguet hall which could seat
150 people and was adjoined by a fully equipped kitchen. The
banquet hall could be divided into smaller classrooms when
the need arose.

The building committee in charge of the Spruce Street
YMCA building consisted of Charles M. Norfleet, chairman, B.
F. Huntley, F. F. Bahnson, R. C. Norfleet, H. A. Pfohl,
R. M. Hanes, and George W. Fisher, the general secretary of
the "v."31 cCharles M. Norfleet was the vice-president and
treasurer of Froeber-Norfleet, Inc., a wholesale fruits and
produce business.32 1In addition to chairing the building
committee for the new "Y," Norfleet was also in charge of
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the fund raising campaign committee. Early in the campaign, a
gift of $50,000 was secured from the estate of R. J. Reynolds,
illustrating the support which the "Y" program enjoyed among
the most prominent citizens of Winston-Salem.33 Reynolds had
also contributed to the 1908 YMCA building campaign.

The cornerstone for the Spruce Street building was

laid on May 15, 1927, in a ceremony in which Dr. Howard E.
Rondthaler, president of Salem Academy and College, gave the
~principal address. Thurmond Chatham, president of the Winston-
‘Salem YMCA actually swung the cornerstone into place, and Robert
M. Hanes announced to the crowd the list of items entombed in
the cornerstone. These items included all of those which had
been in the cornerstone of the 1908 building with the addition
of many items related to the 1927 building campaign and the work
of the "Y." Rondthaler said in his address that, "This building,
purchased by the gifts of the people of the city secured without
campaign is a living monument to community spirit."34 The com-
munity spirit of which Rondthaler spoke had resulted in the
necessary $425,000 to build the Spruce Street "Y" and was part
of the building boom of the late 1920s in Winston-Salem.35

. Winston-Salem had a banner building year in 1927.
In his address to the Home Moravian Church congregation, Rev.
Edward Rondthaler said:

The year 1927 has surpassed all previous years
in the building enterprises of Winston-Salem.
They have totaled in all types of construction
$6,800,000.36

Among the buildings in downtown Winston-Salem which recently
had been completed or were under constructiaon were the City Hall,
County Courthouse, Mercantile Building, Carolina Hotel, and the
R. J. Reynolds Tobacco Company Building.37

On a national level, the YMCA organization noted that
demand for "Y" buildings reached a fever pitch after 1920. 1In
his History of the YMCA, Hopkins states:

The demand grew for buildings with more space,
more varied and better facilities, and hence with
a large investment per building . . . The actual
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building investment after 1920 passed all previous
records. In the final years before the depression
of 1929, amounts annually spent exceeded 9, 11,
and 12 millions of dollars. The aggregate pro-
perty of the American Associations reached an
investment of 250 millions in 1920.38

Included in these new buildings were YMCAs for special interest
groups such as the armed services, railroads and blacks.39

When the Spruce Street YMCA was built it was thought
to be "the finest of its kind in the state, and among the finest
in the entire country."40 It was also anticipated that the building
would serve the Winston-Salem community for many years to come.
The Spruce Street "Y" did serve thousands of young men and boys
in several capacities. In 1944 membership had grown to 2,000
from Ehe 130 subscribers who began the Winston-Salem "Y" in
1888.4%1 whitfield B. East who joined the staff of the "Y" in
1937 said in a 1962 interview that he had taught approximately
5,000 people to swim in the pool of the Spruce Street building
and had counseled or otherwise guided approximately 5,000 boys. 2
By 1965, however, it became obvious that the trend of moving to
the suburbs was affecting the downtown YMCA. Richard E. Shore,
president of the "Y" in 1964, said that, "The 'Y' is vitally
interested in meeting the community's needs in recreation and
leasure~time activities, but as we look ahead we can see that our
present downtown facilities don't fulfill our mission."43 The
dormitory renters had begun to change in character as early as
the 1950s when the national economy boomed:after World War II
and men no longer needed to turn to the "Y" for a place to stay
while they began their careers. According to W. B. East, "They
began to find that small rooms with no kitchens and no women
allowed were less acceptable than they were g to men during the
Depression."44 In addition, companies started contracting with
hotel and motel chains for accomodations for their traveling
salespeople, and transient dormitory renters reduced in number.

The Spruce Street YMCA deteriorated rapidly in the late
1960s and early 1970s and these conditions made it even more diffi-
cult to fill the dormitory rooms with satisfactory tenants. In
1971, an editorial in the Winston-Salem Journal called for a new

"Y" and said that, " . . . the grimy, decaying old YMCA on Spruce
Street is wholly inadequate . . . Though opened after the era of
the electric light bulb, few striding its gloomy corridors would
guess it."45 . Since 1968 the YMCA had been hoping to find a new
downtown site on which to build a modern structure. 1In 1972, after
considering several sites, the YMCA finally purchased a four and
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one-half acre tract of land on Glade Street between West End Boule-
vard and Sunset Drive, and it sold the Spruce Street building to
the City of Winston-Salem's Redevelopmigt Commission for use

in the city's "downtown renewal" plan. The YMCA decided to

build its third building on the Glade Street property close.to
Hanes Park. 1In October, 1973, ground was broken for the

Ceritral YMCA building which serves Winston-Salem today.47

o Even though the Spruce Street YMCA no longer serves -
its original purpose, the building stands as a reminder of a
period when "downtown" was the prime location for recreational,
relaxatioen and religious activities. As Dr. Rondthaler stated

in 1927, "This building . . . is a living monument to community
spirit." The Spruce Street YMCA is a monument to the philan-
thropic spirit of the citizens of Winston-Salem -- a spirit

which will revive the center city and continue to make the Twin
City a special place to live.
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Significance Footnotes

lHarold Macklin, "Building for Young Men's Christian
Association, Winston-Salem, N.C.," architectural drawings in
possession of Calloway, Johnson and Moore, architects, Winston-
Salem, N.C., hereinafter cited as Macklin drawings.

: 2Author's interview with Whitfield B. East, Community
Relations Director, Winston-Salem Y.M.C.A. February 9, 1984, herein-
~after cited as East interview. :

3People's Press, Salem, N.C., "Y.M.C.A. Organized,"
October 11, 1888, hereinafter cited as People's Press, "Y.M.C.A."

4C. Howard Hopkins, History of the Y.M.C.A. In North
America (New York: Association Press, 1951), 15, hereinafter cited

as. Hopkins, History.

?Hopkins, History, 15.

6Hopkins, History, 15.

7People‘s Press, "Y.M.C.A."

8Winston—Salem City Directory, 1888, hereinafter cited
as City Directory with appropriate date.

: 9Winston-8alem Journal, "Y.M.C.A. Celebrates Birthday
by Working," June 6, 1944, hereinafter cited as Journal, "Y.M.C.A.
Celebrates."

10

City Directory, 1926.

11

Celebrates."

o~
People's Press, "Y.M.C.A.;" Journal, "Y.M.C.A.

12Journal, "Y.M.C.A. Celebrates."

l3Twin City Sentinel, "Do You Remember . . . ," December
22, 1961, hereinafter cited as Sentinel, December 22, 1961.
14

"Winston-Salem Y.M.C.A. Yesterday, Today, Tomorrow,"
unpublished manuscript in possession of Whitfield B. East, Winston-
Salem Central Y.M.C.A., 1955, hereinafter cited as "Winston-Salem

Y.M.C.A. Yesterday."
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15Hopkins, History, 148.

l6Hopkins, History, 155.

17Hopkins, History, 456.

18 : .
Winston-Salem Journal, "Laying of the YMCA Cornerstone," October 13, 1907.

19"Winston—Salem Y.M.C.A. Yesterday," 7.

20wyinston-Salem Y.M.C.A. Yesterday," 7.

21"Winston—Salem U.M.C.A. Yesterday," 7.

2Winston—Salem Section of the North Carolina Chapter
of the American Institute of Architects, Architectural Guide Winston-
Salem Forsyth County (Winston-Salem: Winston-Salem Section NCAIA,
1978), 90, 184, hereinafter cited as AIA Guide; Winston-Salem, N.C.;
City Directory, 1920.

23Winston-—Salem Journal, "Plans Completed for Building, A
Credit to the Community," September 10, 1924, hereinafter cited as
Journal, "Plans Completed."

24Hopkins, History, 456.

25Hopkins, History, 456-457.

26Hopkins, History, 457.
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